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EAST'TENNESSEE DURING THE RADICAL REGIME,
1865-1869

By James B. Cameserr

By the fall of 1864 Military Governor Andrew Johnson and the
unconditional Loyalists of Tennessee felt themselves in a sufficient-
ly strong position to proceed with the restoration of normal civil
government in the state. A meeting to prepare the way for a consti-
tutional convention was called to meet at Nashville in December,
but General Hood’s attempt to retake Nashville caused a postpone-
ment until January.

Delegates were chosen in various ways, principally by mass
meetings, but many came with scarcely any more authority than
their own interest and desire to attend. = Because East Tennesseans
dominated the meeting, only those with unconditionally loyal records
were seated.

While the original purpose of the meeting as announced was
merely to lay the ground work and issue the call for a constitutional
convention, the delegates decided to constitute themselves the con-
stitutional convention. They drew up amendments abolishing
slavery and prohibiting its reestablishment. 'To accompany the

amendments in the first election a schedule was prepared which

included a declaration that all acts of the “Tennessee Legislature
during its affiliation with the Southern Confederacy” were null and
void, including, of course, the “Declaration of Independence and
Ordinance Dissolving the Federal Relations between the State of
Tennessee and the United States.” The schedule further ratified all
of Johnson’s acts as military governor and delegated the right to set
voting qualifications to the first elected assembly. The election for
ratification of the amendments and the appended schedule was
then set for February 22, 1865.

Having accomplished its work as a constitutional convention,
the Nashville meeting transformed itself into a nominating conven-
tion and prepared a list of candidates from every county for the legis-
lature, heading the list with the name of William G. Brownlow for
governor.  All of the names were put on a general ticket to be voted
on throughout the state on March 4, 1865. On the scheduled dates,
February 22 and March 4, the amendments and schedules were rat-
ified, and the general ticket candidates were elected, but the total
vote barely reached the minimum prescribed in Lincoln’s plan of
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reconstruction, ten per cent of the number of votes cast in the
election of 1860. The new legislature met in April, and Brownlow
was inaugurated shortly before Lee's surrender at Appomattox. Thus
Tennessee has a native-controlled civil government before the official
end of the Civil War."

This “scalawag” government, which remained largely intact un-
til the elections of 1869, was dominated throughout its existence by
its Fast Tennessee members. Much of its legislation was designed
to prevent the return to power of ex-Confederates. Other acts, while
inspired by the same motive in the main, were constructive in their
implications. In the latter category might be placed the acts grant-
ing Negroes the right to testity in court, to vote, and to hold office
and sit on juries. One piece of legislation which is thought by most
objective historians of the period to have had outstanding merit was
the school law of 1867. The worst legislation in the opinion of
most historians was that in which aid to railroads was involved. But
perhaps the condemnation of that phase has been too severe. Cer-
tainly the relation between railroad magnates and the Tennessce
state government was no worse than the average relation between
such elements in the period of rapid railroad expansion throughout
the country.

But while legislators passed laws in Nashville, people else-
where had to live their ordinary work-a-day lives. It is the purpose
of this paper to give a few glimpses of such daily living as it took
place in Fast Tennessee.

By the spring of 1865 the regions between Knoxville and Chat-
tanooga were on the road to recovery. Farmers were beginning to
plant normal crops, and trade was on a sharp upswing in the towns.
The wheat crop while not bountiful was almost sufficient for home
consumption and the oat-crop was comparable to that of almost any
of the pre-war years. Hay and corn were also abundant.”

This happy condition, however, did not prevail in the northeast
corner of the region. There Confederate occupation, or the threat
of it, had impeded steps toward rehabilitation until after Appomattox.
Greene, Johnson, Carter, Washington, Hawkins, and Sullivan
counties still had the denuded appearance that followed the passing
of armies. The Fast Tennessee Relief Association concentrated its
activities in this section, and thousands of dollars worth of food and
clothing were distributed from the main centers. In some cases

Yames W, Patton, Unionism and Reconstruction in Tennessee, 1860-1869 {Chapel

Hill, 1934), 48-50; Philip M. Hamer, Tennessee, A History, 1673-1932, 4 vols. (New

York, 1933}, I, Ch. XXX VIL
2Rrommlow’s Knowxville Whig and Bebel Ventilator, JTuly 19, 1865; in February,
1866, this paper’s name was shortened to “Kroxville Whig.” Hereafter Brownlow's

paper and its successors will be cited as “Whig”
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the need was so great that impatience and disorder attended the dis-
tribution. This was notably true at Rogersville, Greeneville, and
Elizabethton, At the latter place an attempt was made to sell the
reliel supplies to those who were able to pay before making a free
distribution. The hungry crowd would have none of this. They
demanded that the agents give the goods away without delay, and
their manner was so forceful that the agents complied.® Not until
after the harvests of 1866 did this section recover sufficiently to feed
itself.”

This period saw a considerable influx of population to the prin-
cipal towns, Knoxville and Chattanooga. Laboring people sought
employment there, while wealthier clements, many of whom had
pro-Confederate records, were safer in the cities from the Unionist
counter-terror than they would have been in the rural areas.’ Cig
life in these places was quite primitive by modern standards, althoug%’
Knoxville seems to have been somewhat ahead of Chattanooga in
urban refinements.

Chattanooga’s main street, Market, was described as scarcely
more than a long mudhole as late as 1868. There was no street
lighting of any sort until a jeweler put up a coal-oil lamp on a post
at his own expense.” In dry weather this metropolitan thorough-
fare changed from a sea of mud to a sea of dust. This situation was
ameliorated somewhat when a public-spirited and enterprising gen-
tleman contracted with businessmen affected to spray the street
daily between the hours of 1:30 and 7:00 in the morning.” Never-
theless, even with these lighting and sprinkling systems, the Chat-
tancoga Daily Republican was moved to sav as late as 1869 that
Market Street’s appearance indicated “Wealth to doctors and bank-
ruptey to life insurance companies.” At this time there were few
stores, and most of those that were operating were carried on in
converted government warchouses. The residences were described as
mostly dingy, unpainted frame shanties.” Only in rare cases were
sidewalks found. These dated from the flood in 1867 and were
intended more as bridees than as what one would normally consider
sidewalks. Constructed of planks, they constituted a strong tempta-

*Thomas W. Humes, Third and Fourth Begports to the Fast Tennessee Relief
Asso%iagi;n at Knoxville (Knoxville, 1868), 12.
id., 14

"Paul A. Counce, The Social and Economic History of Kingsport before 1908
{Master’s thesis. University of Tennessee, 19393, 78.

‘g. W. Livingood, “Chattanooga, Tennessee: Its Fconomic History in the Years
Iinmediately Following Appomattox,” Fast Tennessee Historical Society's Publications,
No. 15 (Knoxville, 1943), 39,

"Chattancoga American Upion, March 29, 1868.

- 8Livingood, “Chattancoga,” Ioe. cit, 39.

*Goodspeed Publishing Company, History of Tennessee, Hamilton County Fdition
(Nashville, 1887), 868.
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tion to seekers for fuel and lumber. Hence, many gaps appeared,
to the dire peril of nocturnal pedestrians.”

In 1868 there was 2 mild controversy between the editors of the
Athens Post and the Chattanooga Daily Republican over the degree
of unimpressiveness of Chattanooga’s appearance. The Athens ed-
itor, on a visit to Chattanooga, said that the “spirit of improvement
does not seem to be exercising control,” and that “a portion of the
buildings begin to look time-worn and seedy.” This, the Chatta-
nooga editor did not challenge, but when the critic went on to say
that two-thirds of Chattanooga’s houses were miserable board shan-
ties with clay chimneys, the Chattanooga editor offered some argu-
ment as to the correctness of the proportion.®

Lawlessness was common, and the city court dockets were
usually crowded. Keepers of bawdy houses tlourished, The local
police policy was to bring these offenders in once a week in order to
collect a five-dollar fine. This, in effect, amounted to a licensing
system with a fee of five dollars per week. On one occasion, a
local newspaper reported that five bawdy house keepers, one of whom
kept two houses with eight girls in eac%, came in to pay their fines
in one day. 'The newspaper pointed out that these were not all, that
more were to be notified ﬁy the police to come in and pay the fine.”

The condition of the city jail should have kept prospective
lawbreakers on the straight ang narrow path. A correspondent of a
local newspaper in late 1867 described it as being completely devoid
of stoves ané) panes of glass. In the upper story he found over a
dozen women in one room without a single chair, bench, or bed
visible. 'There were holes in the ceiling, and the roof was badly
in need of repair.

The laboring man’ scarcely lived off the fat of the land. Un-
skilled labor received from 75 cents to $1.50 per day.* The city
paid a little more than the scale in private industry. In March,
1868, the city council set a schedule under which laborers would
receive $1.75 per day; mechanics, $2.50; teams, $3.00; foremen,
$2.00; and quarry men, $1.50.”° If the worker lived in a boarding
house he would not have much left from his pay check for liquor
and riotous living, since a typical rate for board was $25 per month,
$5 per week, and 35 cents per individual meal.”® The constant

YChattanooga American Union, Pebruary 18, 1868.
1] ivingood, “Chattanooga,” loc. cit., 38.

2Chattanooge American Union, March 12, 1868.

3 hid., November 1, 1867.

_*Facts and Figures Concerning the Climate, Manu{gcmri:ng Advaniages and the
Agricultural and Mineral Resources of Fast Tennessee {Knoxville, 1869), 17.

15Chattancopa Asmerican Union, March 11, 1868,
181hid., April 4, 1868.
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threat of unemployment also limited the working man’s security always :
during this period.” nance i
However, there was a rosier side to the picture of the Mountain from th
City. If one had money he could live in comfort and even enjoy marshal
some luxuries. In the income tax retumns submitted to the federal meet i
internal revenue department for 1867 appear the names of fifty- e ue?é
three residents of Hamilton County, most of whom were Chatta- strci:ets 5
noogans. While the highest taxable income listed was only capid
$6582.83, it is to be assumed that the actual income in each case stsa dﬂ??
was considerably greater than that declared to the government.™ left fer
There were opportunities to spend money on luxary goods Jdamage
and entertainment. Several dealers carried such food items as rapid
dates, oranges, lemons, and oysters.”” There were billiard parlors, t((aEt th
saloons, bowling alleys, and houses featuring intriguing gambling were ]
devices* A summer resort was opened on Lookout Mountain in of bric
1865.* Circuses and traveling shows were frequent occurrences.™
Baseball was played during most of the year, and Chattancoga had decr ] ‘
several clubs, one of which, the Mountain City, played games E(.:ly.’
against representatives of Knoxville, Nashville, and Memphis.* editort;
For those with more refined tastes there were frequent musical But Kn
programs and performances by amateur players.™ all dire:
Chattanooga had had a good bridge across the Tennessee (con- houses,
structed by the Federal army) prior to the flood of 1867. After all its +
this bridge was swept away a crude ferry was the only means of N
crossing the river, No improved roads extended into the hinter- ¢ heal
land, and such dirt roads as existed became impassable in bad /
weather.” When Chattanoogans went to the county seat at Har- liohtir
rison, about 14 miles away, they preferred to go by steamer on ’ﬁx l?
the river.* 0 y b
Knoxville entered the period of the Radical regime greatly “}:ﬁ%_‘
damaged as a result of occupation, successively, by southern and e
northern armies. It was still a country town in which boys fre- ?ﬂ:{).n )
quently chased rabbits through the streets and gardens, and a in 103
gentleman caught a large opossum under his house in the heart
of the city as late as the fall of 1868.*" Garbage disposal was the bough
responsibility of the individual citizen, who apparently did not ]anéla
1bid., February 4, 1868. S pare
“81hid.. April 4, 1868, 291
19Tbid., January 7, 1868. 2]
29Tbid., February 29, 1868. o
W hig, August 16, 1865. 81
22Chattoncoga American Union, Navember 1, 1867, Janunary 15, 1868, 2]
23)bid., March 10, 1868. o
241bid., December 8, 1867, February 9, 1868. as
257 ivingood, “Chattancoga,” loc, cit., 39. as
28Chattanooga American Union, February 4, 1868, ae
2"Knoxville Press and Herald, December 1, 1868.
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always assume his responsibility. The city council passed an ordi-
nance in 1868 requiring residents to remove all offensive material
from their premises under pain of having it removed by the city
marshal at the expense of the property holder. The same council
meeting recorded a petition signed by a large number of citizens
requesting an ordinance to prohibit “hogs running loose in the
streets.” ®*  But Knoxville's growth and development was more
rapid and more even than that of Chattancoga. lts population
steadily advanced during the period.” While the city had been
left fenceless and with most of its buildings either destroyed or
damaged in 1864, its recovery in this respect was unbelievably
rapid.” By 1867 the building boom had made progress to the ex-
tent that four hundred houses were erected during the year. Nor
were these board shanties. Most of them were “commodious houses
of brick, or large frame dwellings, or neat cottages.”” _

John Fleming, whose hatred of the Radical regime, led him to
decry the “evil times upon which our people have fallen,” said
editorially of Knoxville:

But Knoxville seems to be a wonderful exception to the general rule. In
all directions, as if by magic, factories, machine shops, storehouses, dwelling
houses, and buildings of every description are springing up. Business, in
all its varieties, seems to be thriving. The people, generally, seem to have
remunerative occupations—at least they dress well, look well, and appear to

be healthy.®®

An early campaign was sponsored by the Whig to get street
lighting, but the result was not achieved until September, 1867.*
The Knoxville Gas Company submitted a bill for over $200 for
October, the first month of operation, for gas used in public lamps.
While this was deemed exorbitant by the city council, and negoti-
ations were carried on in order to reduce it, the amount seems to
indicate rather extensive street lighting.™

A rather modern fire department was in operation. The city
hought a steam fire engine, 1,200 feet of hose, and a hose carriage in
January, 1868, at the expense of over $8,000.>° During the latter

~ part of the same year, a two-story brick building forty fect square

28\f7Lig, March 11, 1868,

28 FEacts and Figures, 20.

30 noxville Free Press, August 22, 1867,

7hid., November 5, 1867.

32K hoxville Press and Herald, October 24, 1868,

23 hig, March 5, 1864.

MR noxville Free Press, September 1, 1867.

35K noxville Herald, November 9, 1867,

38yifiliam Rule Ced.), Standard History of Knoxville (Chicago, 1800), 106.
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was built for the new fire engine at the head of Market Square,

'I'he fire engine occupied the lower floor, while the municipal offices
were located upstairs.”

Law enforcement seems to have been a little more efficient in
Knoxville than in Chattancoga. Prostitutes were barred from the
city by ordinance. However, the suburbs were not distant, and
there, according to the Free Press,™ they could “be seen walking the

streets at almost all hours of the day and night, plying their infamous
vocation.”

Several of the strects were graded and had curbs, and a few
were macadamized.” The roads entering the city were considerably
superior to the corresponding ones into Chattanooga. A number of
these roads were built by turnpike companies incﬁiding those from
Tazewell and Kingston.” The Kingston Turnpike Company, char-
tered by the legislature in 1866, raised funds by subscription in order
to build and macadamize the first five miles. From there on, the
plan was “pay as you go.” A toll gate was erected and fees were
collected to build the next five miles.” A traveler on the Tazewell
Pike in 1867 saw six miles of road lined with stone for macadamizing.
Many workers were engaged in pounding the large stones into small
ones. It was estimatet]z that the Pike would be macadamized nine
miles out of Knoxville by the spring of 1868.*

The wage scale in Knoxville was about the same as in Chatta-
nooga, except that the city council seems to have paid a slightly lower
rate.””  Apparently Knoxville had only one labor union during re-
construction. It was a branch of the typographical union and was
organized November 9, 1867. This was no militant or radical
organization, and it atoused no fears, apparently, in the breasts of
the newspaper owners, The union called for a ten hour day and
a minimum wage of $16 per week.® The Knoxville Free Press
assumed an attitude of benevolent paternalism toward the union
and gave the members an editorial pat on the back as follows:

The terms laid down by the Knoxville “Union” are no higher than those
already allowed, we bel)i,eve, by all the proprietors. We wish the boys a

pleasant time and trust they may prosper in carrying out the legitimate ohb-
jects of their “Union.” **

1hid, 106-107. ¢

388 eptember 5, 1867,

SWhig, June 10, 1867, September 30, 1869,

““Rule, Knoxville, 272-273. State ald was granted to the turnpike companies
in 1866. Acts of Tennessee, 1865-1866, p. 266.

“Knoxville Herald, November B, 1867.

“*Whig, March 11, 1868,

“*Knoxville Herald, November 12, 1867,

*“Knoxville Free Press, November 14, 1867,
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Rents were so high in 1866 that Brownlow thought nearly all
dwelling houses were out of the reach of the “mechanic or the man
of small capital.” ** Retail prices of food, however, began to decline
in 1865, and by late 1866 they had reached a level comparable with
pre-war norma{ Variety was on the increase, and gradually im-
ported foods and delicacies appeared in quantity in the stores.
Raisins, tea, lemons, and spices were on the shelves of Knoxville
shops by February, 1866." Such terms as cudbear, logwood, mad-
der, and copperas appeared often in the market advertisements.”
These substances were used in dyeing cloth, a practice which was
still common in rural homes. Ginseng was sold on the general
market for medicinal purposes. Furs were also prominent on market
list advertisements, particularly fox, coon, mink, muskrat, otter, and
opossum, with prices ranging from $2.50 to $3.00 for an otter skin
to five cents for an opossum fur.”® Eggs, chickens, turkeys, and
ducks were plentiful and cheap after 1866, and venison was on the
market most of the time. Sugar, candy, and coal-oil were expensive
items, the latter ranging from 75 cents to $2.50 per gallon.”

For leisure time Knoxville offered many recreational opportun-
ities. There were a number of saloons and billiard parlors, in some
cases the two in combination. One advertised itselF as “directly in
rear of the Press and Herald office where you can read the news or
drink the dews.” ® An ice cream parlor was opened on Market
Square in the spring of 1865.” A dancing club orﬁanized in 1868
sponsored dances regularly in the local auditorium.”™  Circuses pas-
sed through frequently, and shows featuring freaks were common.”™
Baseball was extremely popular and Knoxville had at least five teams
at one time, not counting the Negro teams.” A baseball tournament
held in the fall of 1867 was said to have been witnessed by “14,141
of Knoxville’s fairest, bravest, smallest, largest, and blackest.”*

An auditorium begun in the fall of 1867 was completed the
following year. According to its published plans the structure could
seat 1,500 persons and was lighted with gas and heated with hot
air pipes.”  About the same time Professor Knabe, the local music
teacher, organized a choras and orchestra into the Philharmonic

45\ hig,, December 12, 1866.

48Thid., Pebruary 7, 1866.

271hid., Debruary 7, 1866, July 7, 1869.

8K noxville Commercial, March 13, 1866,

W hig, July 7, 19, 1869,

80K noxville Press and Herald, October 14, 1868.

51Whig, May 10, 1865,

52K noxville Press and Herald, November 5, 1868,

531hid,, October 6, 1868

54K noxville Free Press, September 4, 1867,

557hid., November 6, 1867.
88K noxville Herald, November 17, 1867,
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Society,” which gave a concert of classical and semi-classical music
in the fall of 1868. The critic of the Press and Herald,™ which
carried a Jong review of the performance, thought the orchestra work
generally good, but thought the lady pianist a little too delicate in
her touch for a performance in an auditorium. Some pieces were
too long, he complained, and he suggested that it would have been
more appropriate to have interspersed some old popular music with
the classical.

The Germans of Knoxville had their own cultural organiza-
tion, the Turn Verein, which gave musical and recreational programs
frequently. One of these programs, called by the originators a
“Moonlight Promenade Concert,” featured instrumental music, sing-
ing, dancing, and athletic feats.”™ Further proof that Knoxville was
not indifferent to music lay in the prominence of advertisements for
organs and piancs and also in the fact that 147 pianos were reported
on the tax list of 1867."

The emergence of East Tennessee as an industrial and mining
region, prophesied by leaders from the time of Ezekial Birdseye,
began to take form in this period. It is true that not much momen-
tum was gained before the 1870's, but the signs were unmistakable.
Industriafg associations and boards of trade were formed to promote
the movement. These booster groups did not boast so much of
achievements as of possibilities. One such organization, the Knox-
ville Industrial Association, published a pamphlet on the status of
manufacturing, agriculture, and mining as of 1868. 'This pamph-
let, Facts and Figures, pointed out that with the exception of a few
furnaces and foundries, a nail factory, a few cotton yarn factories,
“a steam tannery or two, some plow factories, a soap factory, a few
steam saw mills . . . one zinc establishment; a few rolling mills . . .
we are just where we were fifty years ago”; and that there was only
one woolen goods factory in the state and none for weaving any
cotton cloth other than brown domestic.”” The practice of importing
so much was deplored as follows:

We import from other states all our reapers, mowers, threshers and
engines, all of our chairs, axes, shovels hoes, rakes, forks, wire, sheet-iron,
iton pipes, hinges, scythes, picks, willowware and rope, and even our ax
and pick handles and wagon spokes, most of our plows, brooms, furniture,
wooden-ware, fire grates, stoves, corn shelless, horse shoes and horse shoe
nails, domestic prints, woolens, boots, shoes, hats, clothing, and most of our
carriages, and many of our wagons, besides hundreds of other articles. The

5T1bid., December 20, 1867,
8)ecember 6, 1868,
59Whig, July 21, 1869.
S Rule, Knoxville, 107,
®1Fgcts and Figures, 16-17.

average cost
pared with 1

The pampl
from Chic:
from Alba
Hampshire
Amo
seems a if
would inc
main cent
centers of
By 1
Company
a nail mi
formed by
]Eartnersh
irst coal
was brou
Foundry
for the r
hollow w
which m
Kne
tenths of
a pork {
brewerie
factories
share of
saw mill
and a p:
Ch
214 e
workme
busines
grist mi
—
83
841 ¢
53Ry
ﬂﬁrb.
G’TW
le‘b
ﬁDK]

H elnjarso L;



ications

ni-classical music
Herald,”™ which
1e orchestra work
e too delicate in
ome pieces were
would have heen
ular music with

ultural organiza-
ational programs
1€ originators a
ntal music, sing-
2t Knoxville was
vertisements for
DS were reportec]

rial and mining
zekial Birdseye,
t much momen-
e unmistakable.
med to promote
st so much of
tion, the Knox-
n the status of
This pamph-
eption of a few
yarn factories,
) factory, a few
)Hing mills . . .
there was only
I weaving any
e of importing

s, threshers and
wire, sheetdron,
nd even our ax
coms, furniture,
and horse shoe
and most of our
er articles. The

East Tennessee During Radical Regime 93

average cost of transportation on thirty of these articles . . . is 17% as com-
pared with the original cost.*

The pamphlet further deplored paying freight on reapers and mowers
from Chicago; plows, axes, and horseshoes from Connecticut; stoves
from Albany, Philadelphia, and Cincinnati; carriages from New
Hampshire, and broorus from New York.™

A more detailed catalog of the industry already started, however.
seems a little more impressive than the Facts and Figures pamphlet
would indicate. Knoxville and Chattanooga were, of course, the
main centers of the rising new industry, although there were other
centers of more than negligible importance.

By 1869 Knoxville had one establishment, the Knoxville Iron
Company, which included a rolling mill, a foundry, a machine shop,
a nail mill, and a railroad spike machine.” This company was
formed by a carpetbagger, who had been a Federal quartermaster, in

artnership with some Welsh immigrants.® Under its auspices the
First coal to be transported on the Knoxville and Kentucky Railroad
was brought into Knoxville.”” Other foundries were the Knoxville
Foundry and Machine Shop, which, in addition to doing repair work
for the railroads and other factories and mills, made plows, grates,
hollow ware and circular saws for saw mills;”” and the Cumberland,
which made railroad castings, hollow ware, grates, and stoves.™

Knoxville also had four furniture factories (although nine-
tenths of her furniture was still imported from the North), a tannery,
a pork factory that produced bacon and lard, a soap factory, two
breweries, three planing mills which operated sash, door, and blind
factories; a gas works which lighted the principal streets and a large
share of the stores and private residences, seven flour mills, two
saw mills, one pottery mil, one turning mill, four tin-working shops,
and a paper mill.”

Chattanooga industry grew from 22 small industries employing

214 men in 1860 to 58 industrial establishments employing 850
workmen i 1870.7 Retail and wholesale trade was still the main
business in the Mountain City but there were several saw mills,
grist mills, and two furniture factories in the city during this period.
T e, 17,
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The latter made bureaus, beds, chairs, and school furniture.” Far
more impostant was the incipient iron industry. In 1864 a rolling
mill to reroll iron rails was built by the federal government.™ This
property was leased to private citizens in October, 1865. The com-
pany failed in 1868 due to failure to get enough iron to operate at
capacity,” and early in 1869 it was sold to ]. T. Wilder, the greatest
of the carpetbaggers to settle in East Tennessee, and was made a
part of the Roane Iron Company. Wilder put in puddling furnaces
and began making iron rails.”

Wilder had served in the war as a commander of a distinguished
unit referred to as Wilder's Lightning Brigade. On release
from the army he sought a milder climate because of poor healh.
East Tennessee’s climate together with her resources in minerals
caused him to decide to migrate here. Moving to Chattanooga at
the age of 36, he prospected about the region until he found the
right combination of coal and iron in Roane County. Joined by
other capitalists he formed the Roane Iron Company in 1867."

The Roane County plant was located at Oak Springs, four miles
from the Tennessee River. 'The iron ore was dug about one-half
mile from the furnace at a cost of fifty cents per ton and was hauled
to the furnace on a small railway. Coal also was mined only one-half
mile from the furnace. A high quality of iton was made and oper-
ating expenses were low.” Output in the beginning was said to be
9,000 tons per year. Wilder thought the coal mine was the thickest
vein in the world. He stated that an air course driven through the
vein indicated it to be over 100 feet thick, “more than twice the
thickness of the largest bed of anthracite coal in Pennsylvania.”™

In Polk County a copper-mining industry supported a popula-
tion of about 3,000 These mines in Copper Basin were said to
yield more copper than any other in the United States with the
exception of the Lake Superior mines.” The East Tennessce Zine
Company, located in Jefferson County at a mine with an ore vein
five to six feet thick, was said to be one of four of its kind in the
United States. The operating machinery was powered by a turbine
wheel. The company told Mr. Bokum, the state immigration com-

"1bid., 44.

T2Goodspeed, History of Tennessee, 262.

"*Livingood, “Chattancoga,” loc. cit., 45.

"“Gocedspeed, History of Tennessee, 262.

"Samuel C. Williems, General John T. Wilder, Commander of the Lightning
Brigade (Bloomington, Indiana, 1936), 40, 42.
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phia, , 42,
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FEast Tennessee During Radical Regime

missioner, that it expected to make 2,500 pounds of zinc oxide
during 1868 and twice that amount during 1869.” Iron mines were
operating in Greene County and lead mines in Bradley.” Much
marble was quarried in Hawkins County near Rogersville. This
area furnished marble for the state capitols of Ohio and South Caro-
lina and for the National Capitol at Washington.™

Apparently the only factory manufacturin woolen cloth was
at Kingsport. Set up by a man who had formerly operated a cotton
factory in Des Moines, Towa, this factory sent out wagons to twelve
counties in Fast Tennessee to exchange manufactured cloth and
blankets for raw wool to make more cloth and blankets. Operated by
water power, its machinery included carding machines, looms, and
finishing machines. One loom could weave ten to fifteen blankets
Eer day. From eight to ten looms, each of which could weave

otty yards per day, were used for weaving woolen cloth. Weayers
were paid two and one-half cents per yard and, therefore, if they
worked diligently, could make $1.00 per day. 'l'en women and five
men were employed in the plant. Most of the cloth woven was
eithe;]red—and—white—striped, widely preferred for petticoats, or solid

ray.
Y A wool-spinning factory was enough of a rarity to create some-
thing of a sensation at Elizabethton as late as 1869. According to
the Knoxville Whig,™ men, women, and children came from miles
around on horseback, on foot, in carriages and wagons to see it
operate and to witness the results of rough wool “just as it was sheared
from the backs of the sheep going through three or four processes
and coming out into beautifuf%an finely sprun threads as even and
as uniform as the hairs in a horse’s mane.”

To emphasize the overwhelming rural nature of East Tennessce
society in this period, only two towns, with the exception of Knox-
ville and Chattanooga, had populations of more than 1,000, These
were Creeneville and Cleveland.®® Most of the people lived on farms
of from 20 to 100 acres. A few counties, notably Jefferson, Sullivan,
Blount, Greene, Monroe, McMinn, and Rhea, ﬁad a substantial pro-
portion of farms larger than 100 acres. There were eighty farms
in East Tennessce ranging from 500 to 1,000 acres, while only
cleven in the whole region were larger than 1,000 acres.™ Knox,

80Bokum, Tennessee Handbook, 25.
817hid., 40.

B21bid., 22.

&3(lgunce, Kingsport, 79-80.

84Tune 10, 1869.
86 Tnited States Census Office, A Compendium of the Ninth Census, 1870 (Wash-

ington, 1872), 328-339,
88Njinth Census, The Statistics of the Wealth and Industry of the United States,

1870 (Washington, 1872), 362.
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Greene, Washington, Roane, Blount, Hamilton, and Jefferson were
the wealthiest counties in the order given, as judged by the total
value of their real and personal property, while Morgan, Scott, and
Sequatchie were the poorest by the same criterion.”

Farming was more diversified than in any other section of the
state. Very little cotton was grown, the total in 1869 amounting
to a little over 2,000 bales. Nearly all the counties raised substantial
quantities of tobacco, Irish and sweet potatoes, winter wheat, corn,
and oats. Lesser quantities of beans, hay, spring wheat, rye, barley,
buckwheat, rice, hemp, flax, sorghum, butter, cheese, wine, maple
sugar, wax, honey, apples, peaches, and pears were also produced.*

Livestock raised included horses, mules, asses, milk cows, work-

ing oxen, beef cattle, sheep, and hogs. In East Tennessee oxen were

used far more extensively for draft purposes than mules. This was
another respect in Whicﬁ the region cEffered from the rest of the
state. Greene, Knox, and Jefferson were the greatest producers
of livestock.”

Bottom lands along the creeks and rivers were said to yield
upwards of fifty bushels of corn to the acre.” Land prices for these
bottom lands ranged from $50 to $100 per acre. Other good im-
proved farm lands could be bought for $5 to $25 per acre, while
mountain lands sold for as little as 30 cents per acre.” The average
assessed valuation of land per acre ranged from 53 cents in Scott
County to $12.06 in Hamilton.”

From the beginning of the reconstruction period East Tennesee
made efforts to attract immigrants to her soil. In this Parson Brown-
jow and the Radicals took the lead, but there was no disagreement on
the part of the Conservatives and the Democrats in this matter.
Contact with northern troops in the Federal army, some of whom
had remained to settle in Tennessee, was a factor in accelerating the
movement for inducing northerners to come down with their capital
or their labor power. The commissioners of the Pennsylvania Relief
Association for Fast Tennessee lent their endorsement to the idea.
Near Loudon they had visited with a planter who, having employed
a discharged Yankee soldier to work for him, was more than satisfied:
“He said the soldier did more work in one day than any negro did in
five.”” The commissioners also remarked in the report of their trip

Ihid., 57.58.

se7hid., 242-249.

891bid.

®Facts and Figures, 6.

11hid., 6-7. '

92Bokum, Tennessee Handbook, 52.

#3Report to the Contributors to the Pennsylvania Relief Association for East Ten-
messee . . . (Philadelphia, 1864), 22,

tha
ual

ern
rai
ne

cax

Ea:

ind
an
for
sot
the

of

Wi
tra



Hons

Jefferson were
1 by the total
an, Scott, and

section of the
69 amounting
sed substantial
r wheat, corn,
at, rye, barley,
, wine, mapie
o produced.”

Ik cows, work-
Ssee OXen were
les.  This was

he rest of the

test producers

said to yield
rices for these
ther good im-
er acre, while
- The average

cents in Scott

[ast Tennesee
Parson Brown-
sagreement on
n this matter.
ome of whom
celerating the
h their capital
ylvania Relief
1t to the idea.
ying employed
than satisfied:
y negro did in
rt of their trip

ion for East Ten-

Fast Teunessee During Radical Regime 97

that “Fast Tennessee with its fertile lands, its rich mines, and val-
uable water power, presents a fine field for the application of north-
ern labor and capital, and when this calamity is overpast, and a direct
railroad communication with the North is secured, it will prosper as
never before.”

About the same time Brownlow began to wage an editorial
campaign in the Whig on the subject of immigration. He said that
East Tennessee needed tin and stove shops, carpenters, cabinet
makers, boot and shoe shops, tanneries, tailors, blacksmiths, mach-
inists, saddlers, harness makers, carriage makers, school teachers,
and physicians. He invited loyal immigrants to come in and per-
form these jobs in place of the “rebel lick spittles” who had fled
south. “The country now looks bad,” concluded the Parson, “but
the war over and everything will spring into life.”*

In early 1866 the German Association of Knoxville had a bureau
of immigration to promote the flow of German-born immigrants to
East Tennessee. The association had already secured an agreement
with the president of the Fast Tennessee and Virginia Railroad to
transport immigrants at half price. The trip was made by steamer to
Norfolk and then to Knoxville by rail. Jultus Ochs, the president
of the immigration bureau, announced that many German families
wished to come to East Tennessee.™

Newspapers, both Conservative and Radical, joined in the
clamor for immigration, although the Radical press was a little more
enthusiastic about the matter. “We want an emigration [sic] of
enterprizing men in all the avocations of life to hammer old fogyism
out of all of us,” stated the Jonesboro Union Flag (Radical).”™ The
paper further said that East Tennessee would do well to adopt the
northern system of industry and education, and that if this were done
it would make the section orie “boasting opulent and wealthy cities”
and that Bast Tennesse would then “march on to her grand destiny
amid the thunder roar of innumerable factories.”

Whether as a result of the campaign or for other reasons, a
sizeable number of immigrants did come to East Tennessee. Some
of these were outstanding capitalists such as J. T. Wilder, H. S.
Chamberlain, and William J. Ramage.” The Nashville Press and
Times estimated that six to eight families per week were entering
Fast Tennesse early in 1867."  Yet it was capital rather than labor

3:%;5‘5 anuary 16, 1864

BGKnof;'ii[Ie Car?zme;cial, March 13, 1866.
o7 Angust 16, 1867,

8Rule, Kroxville, 333,

%W/, B. Hesseltine, “Tennessee’s Invitation to Carpethaggers,” East Tennessee
Historical Society’s Publications, No. 4 (1932), 106,
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which migrated, few northern laborers finding the enticements
attractive enough. Those laborers who did come fayored Fast Ten-
nessee.'”

There were some discordant notes mingled with the hymns of
invitation, however. The Conservative press often found it neces-
sary to use the carpetbagger designation as a political weapon. For
example, Horace Maynard was denounced as an “adventurer from
Massachusetts who settled here several years ago.”*** Such attacks
did not help attract other “adventurers.” Then there was some tend-
ency on the part of natives to exploit the newcomers. The German
Association sent a questionnaire to farmers asking the price of land.
A Bradley County farmer replied that he had some uncleared land
that he would be willing to part with at the rate of $20 per acre. At
this time such land could be bought in Minnesota for $1.25 per
acre. The Knoxville Herald" thought the Bradley farmer under-
estimated the native shrewdness of prospective German immigrants.
“People won't come to Tennessee,” it warned editorially, “to benefit
the present inhabitants, but to make money and improve their own
condition.”

In December, 1867, the legislature created a state hoard of im-
migration,” and Hermann Bokum was chosen commissioner of
immigration. His experience had included work with the United
States Department of State Bureau of Immigration,” and he had
also served for a time as agent of the Freedmen’s Bureau in Fast Ten-
nessee.'” Shortly after Bokum’s appointment the East Tennessee
Immigration Society was formed at a convention of East Tennessee
teachers."”

Bokum took his duties seriously. Early in 1868 he published
a book extolling the attractions of Tennessee, in which book East
Tennessee got a disproportionate share of space. The mineral and
industrial possibilities were emphasized over the agricultural. Tn ad-
dition to his book, Bokum wrote mumerous letters to New York pa-
pers extolling the climate, resources, and freedom from lawlessness in
Bast Tennessee."”

The following year the Knoxville Industrial Association pub-
lished a pamphlet designed to promote immigration. Emphasizing the
T 10004, 105-106.

101 noxville Commercial, August 1, 1866. Actually, Maynard hed come te Ten-
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industrial and mineral resources of the section, this pamphlet offered
the additional enticements of cheap labor, equable climate, and free-
dom from disorder. On the latter point the pamphlet said: “The
people of Fast Tennessee are at peace. The outrages of which
strangers may read are in Middle and West Tennessee. There are
no Ku Klux outrages here.”**® The association arranged for special
railway rates for persons coming south in order to prospect for homes
or opportunities for investment.” The Knoxville city council co-
operated by offering to buy fifteen to twenty acres of land and give
it to any capitalist willing to invest $100,000 in a manufacturing
enterprise.’™”

The Chattanooga Daily Republican carried an advertisement
beginning December 8, 1868, and continuing for a month, with the
heading “Wanted Immediately, Any Number of Carpetbaggers to
Come to Chattanooga and Settle.” The advertisement went on to
extol the climate, soil, minerals, and railroads of the region and to
assure prospective immigrants that the jurisdiction of the “Ku Klux
Klan and other vermin does not extend over these parts.”™

The results of the various campaigns are difficult to evaluate.
No doubt some of the migration of northern capital and labor were
due to such propaganda. One sixth of the property of Knoxville was
owned by northern immigrants in 1869."* But some emicration
from the section occurred during the period, particularly to Mis-
souri.® In the fall elections of 1869 the Democrats won control of
the state government, but no fundamental change in the policy of
encouraging immigration resulted. However, the emphasis was
shifted perceptibly to European immigrants rather than northern
capital ™ ‘

The railroads existing or being built during this period were
the Fast Tennessee and Virginia running from Knoxville to Bristol
with a branch line to Rogersville; the East Tennessee and Georgia,
from Knoxville to Chattanooga with a branch extending to Dalton
from Cleveland: the Knoxville and Kentucky; the Knoxville and
Charleston: and the Cincinnati, Cumberland Gap, and Charleston.”**

"The East Tennessee and Georgia and the East Tennessee and
Virginia had been completed before the war.**® These two railroads
T 180 and Figures, 1).
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made connections with Baltimore and New York. The trip from
Knoxville to New York required fifty-two hours, and the fare was
$33.20. Freight for the same distance was at the rate of $2.70 per
hundred pounds. The trip from Knoxville to Chattanooga took
about nine hours," possibly due to stops at the eating houses on the
way. Trains stopped full time for meals at Knoxville,™ and eating
Liouses were located at various towns between there and Chattanooga
for the benefit of rail travelers, those at Loudon and Mouse Creek
(Niota) being cited for their good meals."*®

The Knoxville and Kentucky had been graded to Clinton before
the war, and rails had been laid ten miles out of Knoxville. During
the war Joseph A. Mabry, the president of the company, used the
line mainly to haul wood for the Confederates. By the end of the
war less than six miles of track remained, and the main bridges
were missing.”™  As early as the last months of 1863 efforts were
made to complete construction of the road to Lexington as a military
project. Burnside prepared to construct it,”™ and Brownlow urged
Lincoln to press it on Congress in his next annual message.'* Federal
subsidy failed to materialize, but the state government was more
kind. "With lavish state subsidies the road was completed thirty-two
miles out of Knoxville by March, 1866."* No more was completed
until 1868 when seven more miles of track were laid. The cost of
construction of the first thirty-two miles had been at the rate of
$43,000 per mile, but when the full thirty-nine miles had been com-
pleted the average cost had jumped to $60,000 per mile."**

It is to be noted that the Radicals were not alone in their support
of Mabry and his railroad exploits and exploitations. The Conser-
vative press in East Tennessee was as loud in its praise and support
as the Whig. The Knoxville Free Press, on November 22, 1867,
praised the Omnibus Bill which appropriated $800,000 to the Knox-
ville and Kentucky. “We are glad to see that Hon. D. C. Senter is
strongly pressing the Dill,” the editorial continued. A week later,
the same paper observed:

Much praise is due alike to General Mabry, for the faithful and able
manner in which he has presented the subject to the favorable notice of the

1T Whig, September 6, 1864, November 1, 1865.

L181hid., April 2, 1864, :

9% noxville Commercial, March 13, 1866,
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Legislature, and also to the Legislature itself, for the wisdom, foresight and
liberality they have evinced in their legislation in regard to the same.*®

The Knoxville and Charleston was also aided by a state grant
in 1866. The road was completed to Maryville in 1868, the first
train making the trip on August 3 of that year, but financial diffi-
culties prevented further progress.”™

By the middle of 1866 the Cincinnati, Cumberland Gap, and
Charleston had been completed forty miles out of Morristown.
Daily trains ran on this line, which connected with an Asheville
stage line at Wolf Creek. Three hours and twenty minutes were re-
quired for the trip from Morristown to Wolf Creek.™

The other great means of transportation in East Tennessee was
the Tennessee River. Many river craft plied the siream between
T.oudon and Chattanooga at all seasons of the year. Smaller craft
reached Knoxville at all seasons and ascended such tributary streams
as the French Broad, the Little Tennessee, the Clinch, the Hiwassee,
Sale Creck, and Emory River.® Much competition was carried on
for the trade in produce along the river banks. The farmers along
the upper river piled their freight at the wharf, and the first steamer
captain to cover the freight with his tarpaulin was entitled by the
law of the river to collect what he had covered on his return trip.
Often there was a race for the wharves between competing steam-
ers. A
Many new boats were built immediately after the war and
others were purchased and brought from the Ohio and the Mississip-
pi in order to meet the transportation needs of the coal and iron
mines being opened in the valley.® Iron was brought by water from
mines in Roane, Rhea, and Meigs counties, and coal from Rockwood,
Sale Creek, and Soddy.”™ Other boats carried on a sort of peddling
trade along the river exchanging goods for poultry, eggs, butter, and
other farm produce.™ A typical load for a steamboat entering Chat-
tanooga included 3,500 bushels of corn, 1,000 bushels of wheat,
oats, butter, eggs, and potatoes, and twenty passengers.”

In March, 1867, the most disastrous flood in history occurred on
the Tennessee River. Most of the bridges were destroyed, and thou-
sands of dollars worth of property was swept away. A steamboat
that made a trip to Loudon during the flood was able to goup a high-
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way bed one and a half miles to the town of Washington in Rhea
County. In Chattanooga the same boat steamed up Market Street
five blocks and could have gone farther had the Mayor not urged
return to the river bank, in order not to endanger the tottering foun-
dations of the partially submerged frame buildings.”™

The focussing of attention on the river that came as a result of
the flood may have been an important factor in the movement that
arose during the following year for river improvement, This
movement seems to have originated in Chattanooga. In February,
1868, a meeting was called there to discuss ways and means of get-
ting federal aid to remove obstructions to river traffic near Chattano-
oga and at Muscle Shoals, Alabama. It was decided to call on the
county courts of the Tennessee Valley to appoint delegations to an
East Tennessee-wide convention. The Chattanooga meeting point-
ed out that such improvements would provide an outlet for Fast
Tennessee mineral and farm products and at the same time make the
importation of manufactured goods from the North and tropical foods
cheaper and in greater volume.” Cities as well as county courts
elected delegates to the Fast Tennessee convention. The Chattanoo-
ga City Council appointed forty delegates and appropriated $100 for
their expenses.”*® The meeting which was held on March 18, 1868,
in the city hall at Chattanooga, had about 125 delegates in attend-
ance. Knox, Hamilton, Rhea, Monroe, Roane, Sullivan, and Marion
counties in Tennessee, as well as the cities of Chattanooga and Knox-
ville, were represented, and delegates also came from Marshall Coun-
ty and the towns of Decatur, Tuscumbia, Bellefont, and Huntsville
in Alabama. There was even one delegate representing the city of
St. Louis. The Tennessee River Improvement Association was form-
ed with Colonel T R. Stanley of Chattanooga as president.”” This
association started the agitation for federal aid in river improvement
which reached its ultimate fruition in the Tennessee Valley Auth-
ority.

While East Tennessee was still an overwhelmingly rural so-
ciety in 1869, the first slow steps toward industrial development had
been made. Thus were laid the first stones of the foundation for
the exploitation of the region’s abundant raw materials in the twen-
tieth century.
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